IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-KA-01269-COA

TERRY LEE MADDEN

APPELLANT

VS.

ſ

t

ί.

٤.

ι.

ί,

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

AN APPEAL OF THE CONVICTION FOR TWO COUNTS OF MURDER IN VIOLATION OF MISSISSIPPI ANNOTATED CODE SECTION 97-3-19 AND A SENTENCE TO TWO LIFE SENTENCES WITHIN THE CUSTODY AND CONTROL OF THE MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS

APPELLANT IS CURRENTLY INCARCERATED

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

JOHNNIE E. WALLS, JR. 163 NORTH BROADWAY STREET P. O. BOX 634 GREENVILLE, MISSISSIPPI 38702 (662) 335-6001 (662) 378-8958 E-mail: jewalls1@wallslawfirm.com Bar No.

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Terry Lee Madden, was indicted on or about the 5th day February, 2008 by the grand jury prior to the April, 2008 Term, of the Tunica County, Mississippi Circuit Court in a multi-count indictment for murder in violation of Section 99-7-2 and 97-2-19 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as amended. [(R. 8-9) (R.E. 8-9)] The Capias for the appellant was issued February 6, 2008. [(R. 16) R.E. 10)] The Appellant was served with the indictment and arraigned on the 12th day of February, 2008. [(R.10) (R.E.11)] The Appellant and the Appellee thereafter conducted discovery, and the matter proceeded to trial by jury on June 9, 2008.

The indictment charged that the Appellant unlawfully, willfully, feloniously, without the authority of law, and with deliberate design to effect death, did kill and murder a human being, to-wit: Andy McCorkle in Count I of the Indictment and Laura Willis in Count II of the indictment on July 14, 2007 in Tunica County, Mississippi.

The State filed a Demand for Notice of Alibi and for Reciprocal Discovery on May 13th, 2008. [(TR. 13-28) (R.E. 26-41)] No response was offered by the Defendant and the State thereafter filed a Motion In Limine to Exclude Alibi Witnesses on May 28, 2008 for failure of the defense to

ι.

ι.

ι.

i .

timely notice alibi witnesses. On June 9, 2008, prior to trial the hearing was held on the State's Motion and the Motion was denied. The Court ruled that the Motion would be denied provided that no other alibi witnesses would be offered by the Defense. [(TR. 23) (R.E. 36)]. Just before the trial commenced, the State noticed the Court that one other witness had been tendered by the Defense that had not been disclosed, a law officer from Tallahatchie County, Mississippi, whose name came up during a taped statement by the Defendant to investigators. The Court perceived him to be an alibi witness, since he would testify about the foggy conditions the morning of the murders and that he saw the defendant in Sumner, Mississippi that morning. The Court refused to allow his testimony for nondisclosure in discovery. [(TR. 27) (RE. 40)]

The case proceeded to trial, the jurors were qualified, and voir dire examinations by the Court and counsel for the Appellee and Appellant were conducted. The trial jury was selected, and the trial commenced.

During the course of the trial defense counsel made objections to the State's use of several witnesses to alleged prior bad acts of the Defendant. After the particular witnesses testified, the Court ruled on the record that the probative value of the evidence about prior bad acts of the Appellant against the victim, Laura Willis, outweighed the prejudicial effect of the

3

i

i

testimony. [(TR. 275) (RE. 42)].

ł

t.

1.

l

l

Counsel for the Appellant also initially objected to the State's use of two witnesses as experts. The first was Mark Winstead, an employee of Cellular South, who counsel perceived would testify about cell phone records. The Court determined Winstead would testify as an expert in the field of radio frequency coverage, a telecommunications technologist. Counsel withdrew his objection. [(TR. 310-311) (RE. 44-45)] The other expert witness to which Appellant's trial counsel objected was Robert Andrew Georghegan, the Director of Subpoena Compliance for Telepex, the parent company of Cellular South, who would testify as an expert to highly technical and scientific information. The Court overruled the objection because he was the records custodian for Cellular South. [(TR. 326) (RE. 46)]

Upon the conclusion of the State's case, Counsel timely moved for a directed verdict of acquittal which was denied. [(TR. 348) (RE.48)]. The defense proceeded with its case. The Appellant elected not to testify, was given the Culberson warnings, and the Court determined from the *in camera* testimony of Appellant Madden that he had been advised of his rights and that he intelligently chose not to testify. [(TR. 368-370) (RE.49-51)] The defense rested. No rebuttal was offered by the State. Counsel for Appellant renewed Appellant's Motion for a Directed Verdict and further

offered and requested a peremptory instruction, Instruction D-1. The Court denied the Motion on the grounds that a jury question was made for the defendant's guilt or innocence and also stated that the peremptory instruction D-1 would be denied at the appropriate time. [(TR. 375)(RE. 52)]

After closing arguments the jury retired at 10:10 A.M. for deliberations. At 2:15 P. M. the Court heard from the jurors stating they could not come to a verdict on Counts I and II, being divided eleven to one. The Appellee asked that the jury be instructed to continue to deliberate, while the Appellant asked the court to declare a mistrial. The Court instructed the jury to continue its deliberations with instructions. [(TR. 424-425)(RE. 53-54)] At 3:35 P.M. the jury reported that a verdict had been reached. The verdict reported by the jury foreman was "We the jury, find the defendant guilty of murder as charged in Count I of the indictment. and "We, the jury find the defendant guilty of murder as charged in Count II of the indictment." [(TR. 426) (RE. 55)] The jury was polled by the Court on the defense's motion. The judge declared that the verdict was unanimous and released the jury. [(TR. 427) (RE. 56)]

ŗ

.

Directly after the jury was adjourned the Court announced and imposed upon the Appellant the sentence of life imprisonment to serve within an institution under the supervision and control of the Mississippi Department of Corrections for the murder of Andy McCorkle in Count I and

life imprisonment to serve within an institution under the supervision and control of the Mississippi Department of Corrections for the murder of Laura Willis in Count II. The sentence imposed for Count II was ordered to run consecutive to the sentence imposed for Count I. [(TR. 429) (RE. 58)].

i t

ī.

ί.

i s

The Appellant via trial counsel timely filed Appellant's "Motion For A J.N.O.V. Or In The Alternative, Motion for A New Trial on June 16, 2008. [(R. 159-160)(RE.59-60)] The Court denied the Motion on June 26, 2008. (R. 166) (RE. 63) Trial counsel, David Tisdell filed his Motion to Allow Counsel to Withdraw on July 2, 2008. [(R. 167-168) (RE.64-65)] Attorney Tisdell proceeded to timely file Appellant's Notice of Appeal on July 23, 2008. [(R. 175) (RE. 66)] The Court granted Attorney Tisdell's Motion Relieving him of representation of Terry Madden, the Appellant July 31, 2008. [(R. 193) (RE. 68)] Present counsel filed a Notice of Appearance of Counsel, Notice of Appeal, Designation of Record and Rule 11 (B)(1) Certificate of Compliance on July 28, 2008 [(R. 178-185) (RE. 69-76)]

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant contends that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and the verdicts evinced bias and prejudice against the Appellant. The Court erroneously failed to grant the Appellant's Motion for A Directed Verdict at the close of the States case in chief; the Court failed to set aside the Verdict of the jury after considering Appellant=s Motion For a Judgment Not Withstanding the Verdict or in the alternative a New Trial. Appellant contends that the court erred in allowing phone records into evidence--phone records of Laura Willis as Terry Madden, Appellant, was the subscriber. The Court erred in allowing the testimony of Andy Geoghegan, as an expert. The Court erred in allowing testimony concerning prior bad acts of the defendant. The Appellant finally contends that he is entitled to have his convictions overturned or be granted a new trial, since the trial Court abused its discretion in denying Appellant=s motion for a New Trial and request for a judgment notwithstanding the jury verdict in this wholly and completely circumstantial evidence case.

÷

i

ι.

. .

ĺ.

Appellant further argues that the cumulative affect of the errors warrant this Court reversing his convictions for murder of Andy McCorkle and Laura Willis.

FACTS

The Appellant, Terry Madden, and victim, Laura Willis, had been involved in a romantic relationship for sixteen (16) years. [(TR. 127)(RE.83)] They lived together in Tallahatchie County, Mississippi until January of 2007. When the two separated Laura Willis during the last week of

January, 2007 moved in with and thereafter lived with her sister, Barbara Willis, for four months, then moved to Tunica and lived in an apartment in the Kirby Estates until her death. [(TR. 126-127) (RE. 82-83)] Laura Willis was employed at the Gold Strike Casino in Tunica County, Mississippi. She was dressed in her work uniform at the time of her death.

i

1

÷

ŧ

. .

,

i .,

{ .

t,

The victim, Andy McCorkle, was married to Gwen McCorkle and resided in Tallahatchie County, Mississippi. According to a statement by Gwen McCorkle, in 2002, Willis and McCorkle were involved in an affair which caused Gwen McCorkle to leave Tallahatchie County, Mississippi and move to Colorado. Eventually, the McCorkles reunited. [(TR. 128) (RE. 84)] Mrs. McCorkle stated she had no knowledge that her husband had renewed his affair with Ms. Willis. The police ruled her out as a suspect and began investigating Terry Madden closely.

The murders were committed in the early morning hours of July 14, 2007. Mike Gilmore, the Senior Vice President in charge of safety and operations for the Ozark Motor Lines, testified as to the location of McCorkle's truck. Using the Qualcomm Satellite Tracking System, the truck was positioned approximately 4 miles southeast of Robinsonville. It was parked there on Friday, July 13, 2007 when the engine was turned off at 3:31 p.m. The next time the truck's engine was started was logged at 6:52 a.m. on July 14, 2007. [(TR. 217) (RE.151)] Mr. McCorkle had parked his

vehicle across from the Buck Island Trailer Park on the evening of Friday the 13th (July 13, 2007) where it remained parked until the next morning of July 14.

Shundrikca Harris, a deputy of the Tunica County Sheriff lived in the Buck Island Trailer Park. On the morning of July 14, Deputy Harris left home for work around 5:45 am. She was driving her Sheriff's Department patrol car which was equipped with a video recorder which was turned on and running when she left for work. As she approached the exit of the Buck Island Trailer Park, the red Ozark truck driven by Mr. McCorkle and a blue 18 wheeler truck and trailer were parked side by side. Later that morning at approximately 7:20 a.m. she returned to her home at Buck Island to retrieve a "blue tooth device" for her cell phone. [(TR. 143) (RE.121)] As she approached, her video camera recorded that the red truck had been moved from its original position, and was sitting in the field next to where it was parked earlier. There was also a car parked there. The windows in both vehicles were broken by gunshots. [(TR. 135) (RE.113)] (States Exhibit S-50).

Upon entering the trailer park Deputy Harris did not personally notice what the camera had recorded. It was only when she was exiting the Park did she notice the vehicles, the red Freightliner-18 wheeler and the brown Chevrolet Malibu. She noticed how they were positioned and that the

ŧ

:

{

windows were broken. She drove up to the Kirby Estates subdivision (where Laura Willis actually lived), to turn around, and she called her supervisor and for a backup. She waited for the backup. Once her back-up arrived, Deputy Harris returned to the scene. As she drove up three people had arrived and were outside of their vehicle and flagged her down indicating that there was a dead person in the car and that they knew the person in the car to be Laura Willis, a co-worker. [(TR. 136) (RE. 113)] Harris instructed them to move their cars and they left. She and the other law enforcement officers began to secure the scene.

ţ

1

Ł

1 2

l

i

Arthur Steven Chancellor was employed by the Mississippi Bureau of Investigation at the time and investigated the crime scene. He hypothesized that Laura Willis was shot first. Upon reaching the scene he found her car still in drive. The motor had been turned off for safety purposes by one of the Deputies that had arrived on the scene earlier, but the windshield wipers were still running. (TR.167) He continued to testify that once she was shot the car moved forward headed toward the milo field. A shell casing was found in a puddle of water next to the car of Laura Willis.

The investigator, Chancellor, testified further that Mr. McCorkle was shot next through the window of the truck, while he tried to pull off at a high rate of speed. A shell casing was found near the blue truck which was still parked next to where Mr. McCorkle's truck was parked originally. As Mr. McCorkle tried to pull off he hit Ms. Willis car and veered off into the milo field where he was shot again. It was determined by the trajectory of the bullet that the assailant probably climbed up onto the running board of the truck and shot through the broken window. A shell casing was found in the driver's seat where Mr. McCorkle was found. He also determined that the shell casing came from a .40 caliber weapon. [(TR. 177-179,185) (RE.136-137, 144)]

÷

έ.

ł,

No weapon was found. Nor were there any eyewitnesses to the shootings located. The State used several witnesses to circumstantially link Terry Madden to these crimes. First, witness Bobby Robinson from Robinson Guns and Ammo testified that Terry Madden purchased a .40 caliber weapon from him in April of 2005. (TR. 224, 228) Then, Clifton Bailey, a constable and deputy sheriff with the Tallahatchie County Sheriff's Department testified over the objection of the Appellant, that in January of 2006, while he was off duty, he heard tire screeches and someone hollering for help from a car. The woman in the car was Laura Willis. "She was saying: 'Somebody help me. Terry's trying to kill me.' " When he got to the road a gun was thrown out of the window. He picked the gun up off the ground and he saw Terry step out of Ms. Willis' vehicle and enter his vehicle. He identified the gun to be a .40 caliber weapon. He could not remember on which side of the vehicle the gun was tossed. (TR. 235)

Deputy Pat Tribble was called to catch up with the vehicle Terry Madden was driving. After catching up with him, Deputy Tribble stopped Madden. Madden turned around and followed Deputy Tribble to the Sheriff's Department. Tribble testified Terry was mad but low-key and upset. (TR. 239) Officer Tribble charged him with aggravated domestic violence because a weapon was involved. Madden admitted that he pushed and shoved her and they had a fight in the car. Officer Tribble testified that he had responded to previous calls where Laura Willis received bruises on her arms, but they made up and she dropped the charges. (TR. 240) Another witness, Haywood Wilson, a neighbor, testified that he heard and saw the Appellant and Willis arguing in their yard. He didn't like Madden because they raced motorcycles in front of his yard. On this particular morning, Wilson was working on his lawn mower. He heard screaming and looked up to see Madden hit Willis then state, "Get out of my vard or I'm going to kill you" (TR. 246) This incident allegedly occurred in 2006.

Ms. Laura Willis moved away from Madden in January, 2007, according to Barbara Jean Willis' testimony. Laura Willis stayed with her for four month until she moved to Kirby Estates in Robinsonville, Mississippi. Madden would come over anytime he wanted to and she did not testify to there being any problems at her house between Madden and Willis while she lived with her. [(TR.126-127)(RE. 105-106)] Finally, Barbara Willis

.

È,

i

ĺ.

testified that Madden called Laura Willis on her cell phone and said, "Laura would you please answer the cell phone? And she was afraid to answer because she didn't want to talk to him, and he said, "Well, I heard you was going with a truck driver, " and he said, "Laura, please just answer this phone for me." He said, "You know if I find out you going with a truck driver, and you lying to me, I'm gonna kill you." Although this testimony was never objected to on the basis of hearsay or that no predicate was layed for its admission into evidence. It was never established when or where this phone call was made or even how she identified it as Madden's voice or whether she recognized Madden's voice on a telephone. Furthermore, the sister testified that she knew nothing about a truck driver.

;

,

i.

1

The State used the cellular phone records in an attempt to link Terry Madden to the crimes. Laura Willis had an account with Cellular South. She was the owner and Terry Madden was one of the subscribers and an authorized user on her account. The number used by Madden was "(662) 902-8514." [(TR. 322)(RE. 174)]

Mark Winstead, a telecommunications expert testified about the Cellular South towers that are located in North Mississippi. He testified that each tower has a "wireless coverage footprint" or cell phone coverage area, which is "the expected area where a customer would be able to use their phone effectively." The coverage area of each cellsite or tower can be measured by the use of a tool called "Wizard." The coverage area of the cell sites in the area he testified about varied but ranged from a radius of two to three miles to a radius of eight to nine miles.

A map was generated by witness Winstead to show the location of each tower in the area. (State's Exhibit 65-66) As shown by the said map the Bowdre Tower or Tower 269, which is located on Hambrick Road in Tunica County is in close proximity to the crime scene which is located near the Buck Island Trailer Park off Kirby Road. The crime scene was located within the three to four mile radius of the wireless coverage footprint of Tower 269. [(TR. 322) (RE. 174)]

The cellular phone records on the account of Laura Willis were subpoenaed and used by witness Robert Andrew Georghegan, custodian of the records for Telepex, the parent company for Cellular South, to testify that the record or log of calls indicated that at 6:52 a.m. a caller, using the cell phone number which was assigned to Appellant, made a *86 call which hit the Bowdre 269 Tower. (State's Exhibit 67) The time of 6:52 a.m. was paralleled with the time McCorkle started the engine in his truck. [(TR.331) (RE.183)] Georghegan admitted this system was designed to track phones, not people so he could not say who made the call. Additionally the State was exhaustive in pointing out towers that the Appellant's phone allegedly hit from the area of the crime scene or the wireless footprint within which

i.

i,

the crime scene was located to Sumner that morning. (States Exhibit 65-67)

r

: .

ċ

Ultimately, Appellant's counsel established on cross-examination that a cell phone registering on a tower is not foolproof and that there are times the computer does not pick up calls or show calls unavailable to substantiate the location. [(TR. 341) (RE.192)] More importantly, however, there was no showing by this evidence that the calls emanated from the crime scene, as the system does not have the ability to pin point the exact location from where a call is made from within the "wireless footprint." As long as the called is made from inside the "footprint" there was no showing as to exactly where, inside that "footprint" the call was actually made—so it could not be shown, asserted, or proven beyond a reasonable doubt that the phone call was made from the crime scene, because it was just as reasonable to assume that the call could have emanated from any place within the 4 ½- mile radius of the "footprint."

The Appellant, on the otherhand, called some compelling witnesses who contradicted the timelines as a time that Appellant was present on the scene of the crime to commit the crimes. Witness Todd Logan was a neighbor that lived next door to the Appellant--as close as a "turn row" between the houses. He got up about 6:10 a.m. and rode to the Shell service station. When he got back to his house, he saw Terry Madden's wrecker next to the shop and heard metal clanging behind the wrecker and he heard a motor cycle crank up. All this occurred between 6:30 a.m. and 7:00 a.m. [(TR. 348-358) (RE.199-208)]

. .

÷

l

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