IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI

TERRY LEE MADDEN

APPELLANT

VERSUS

No. 2008-KA-1269-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BY: DEIRDRE McCRORY SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

FAX: (601) 359-3796

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

Arthur Chancellor, the state's expert crime scene analyst, testified that based on the positioning of the vehicles, he had concluded that Ms. Willis had been shot first "while her window was in the raised position." Mr. McCorkle, in Mr. Chancellor's opinion, had been "shot while he inside the tractor, still parked or near the blue truck. The truck then went forward when it struck vehicle No. I and therned into the milo field, and then, ... a second shot was fired by someone who probably climbed up on top ... to the door and shot inside." The victims' personal belongings remained inside their respective vehicles. Authorities recovered Ms. Willis's wallet, which contained several hundred dollars in cash as well as credit cards. (T.165-68)

Agent Chuck Poe of the Mississippi Bureau of Narcoties testified that on July 14, 2007, he "received a request to assist the Tunica County Sheriff's Department with a death investigation on Kirby Road." (T.204) Acting on information received from the sheriff, Agent Poe "made arrangements to meet Mr. Terry Madden." (T.206-07) Agent Poe recounted the initial interview as follows, in pertinent part:

When I met with Mr. Madden, I initially asked him had he heard about Laura and Andy, and he acknowledged that he did, and started questioning him

about his relationship with Laura and were they still together, which he said he was not. They had, I believe, broken up back in February. ... [H]e and Laura were supposed to have gone out to eat Friday night in Southaven... and [he] had made arrangements to call her Friday night. ... He said that he tried to call her seeral times Friday night, and she did not pick up. He did nothe was unable to talk to her, but he did leave a voicemail, and then on Saturday morning, we've asked him about his activities, where he was at that Saturday morning, and he said he was in Sumner, at his residence the entire morning.

(T.207)

Knowing that a .40 caliber casing had been found near the 18-wheeler at the crime scene, Agent Poe went on to ask Madden if he had ever owned a .40 handgun. Madden answered that "the only handgun he had ever owned was a .380." Upon further questioning, Madden gave Agent Poe his cellular phone number and acknowledged that he had had it with him the morning on July 14. He also stated that he had phoned Mary Wallace that morning. (T.208-10)

Further investigation revealed that Madden had not spoken with Mary Wallace at the time in question. (T.210-12)

Bobbie Robinson, owner and operator of Robinson Guns and Ammo, testified that on April 27, 2005, he sold a .40 caliber handgun to the defendant. (T.222-280)

Deputy Clifton Bailey testified that on January 27, 2006, he was working in his yard when he "heard some tires squeaking and somebody hollering for help... The person hollering for help was Laura. She was saying: 'Somebody help me. Terry's trying to kill me.'" Deputy Bailey "ran to the road" to see a .40 caliber handgun "come flying out the window." He "picked the gun up off the ground, secured it, and then

Terry stepped out of the car and went back to his vehicle, and Laura pulled off."

After "all of the charges were dropped several months later," the gun "was given back to him, returned to Terry." (T.234-35)

Haywood Wilson testified that he had lived on Sumner Road, "right across from Terry Madden," for the past three or four years. One morning as he was reparing his lawnmower, Mr. Wilson saw Madden "hit" Laura Willis and heard him say, "Get out of my yard or I'm gonna kill you." Ms. Willis then "[g]ot in the car and left." (T.242-46)

Arthinia Saulsberry testified that just after midnight on July 14, Madden picked her up and took her to his house. He woke her up "around four o'clock" and drove her back to her residence, which was "down the road" from his. Later that morning, at about 8:00, he called to tell her that "he had just got a call that Laura Ann had been shot ... in the neck, and that it was two guys dressed in black, and they ran out across the field or something, and that they could have been driving an 18-wheeler or something." Later still that day, "after the investigators came to Tallahatchie County," Madden informed Ms. Saulsberry that he had given her name as an alibi witness. She informed him that she could not "vouch for the time" because she had not been "with him all night." He then insisted that he had dropped her off at 5:30, although she distinctly remembered that he had done so "around 4:00." (T.249-52)

Michael Gilmore, senior vice-president in charge of safety and human resources for Ozark Motor Lines, authenticated the vehicle position history for unit 7654, which had been assigned to Andy McCorkle. From his records, Mr. Gilmore could tell that this vehicle "was turned off the afternoon of July 13th, at 3:31 in the

afternoon. It remained off all that evening and was turned on July 14th at 6:52 a.m." (T.257-60)

Willie Garner testified that his wife Teretha was the victim's sister. The morning of July 14, Madden called Mr. Garner between 7:00 and 7:38 to tell him about a "big [motorcycle] race in Louisiana." Mr. Garner agreed to "tag along." Madden went on to inform him that he (Madden) had planned to have dinner with Laura the night before, but that he had been unable to reach her, and that he had decided that he needed to let her "go on with her life." Later that morning, Madden called Mr. Garner again to tell him Laura had been killed. (T.262-67)

Gwendolyn Willis, Laura Willis's daughter, testified that her mother and Madden had been "staying together" for "[a]bout 16 years." When she told him that her mother had been shot, Madden seemed "like he was unconcerned." (T.268070)

Dr. Steven Hayne performed the autopsies on the bodies of the victims. He concluded that Laura Willis had died of "a gunshot wound ... consistent with distance, consistent with re-entry; a gunshot wound of the left side of the neck, producing a gunshot wound of the right common carotid artery, the right jugular vein, with massive external bleeding ... " Mr. McCorkle died of a gunshot wound to the left chest which produced "massive internal bleeding ... " He had also sustained a non-lethal gunshot wound to the left forearm. (T.286-87)

Starks Hathcock, accepted by the court as an expert in the field of firearms identification, testified that the fired shell casings and fragments submitted for his examination had all been fired from the same gun, a .40 caliber. (T.295-306)

The state presented expert testimony that the defendant's cellular phone connected with a tower in Dublin at 5:32 a.m. on July 14; with a tower near the Coahoma-Tunica County Line at 6:01; and with a tower on Hambrick Road, three to four miles from the crime scene, at 6:52 a.m. (T.307-338)

The defendant did not testify, but he did present a defense of alibi. (T.350-64)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The state submits verdicts are based on legally sufficient proof and are not contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The proof presented a straight issue of fact which was properly resolved by the jury.

Moreover, Madden may not be heard to raise a hearsay-grounded objection to certain testimony for the first time on appeal. He may not put the trial court in error on a point not presented to it.

Finally, the state submits Madden's invocation of the cumulative error doctrine is procedurally barred. It lacks substantive merit as well.

PROPOSITION ONE:

THE VERDICTS ARE BASED ON LEGALLY SUFFICIENT PROOF AND ARE NOT CONTRARY TO THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

Under his first and second propositions, Madden challenges the sufficiency and weight of the evidence undergirding his conviction. To prevail, he must satisfy the following formidable standards of review:

"If there is sufficient evidence to support a verdict of guilty, this Court will not reverse." *Meshell v. State*, 506 So.2d 989, 990 (Miss. 1987). [other citations omitted] This Court should reverse only where, "with respect to one or more elements of the offense charged, the evidence so considered is such that reasonable and fair minded jurors could only find the accused not guilty." *Alexander v. State*, 759 So.2d 411, 421(¶ 23) (Miss.2000) (quoting *Gossett v. State*, 660 So.2d 1285, 1293 (Miss.1995)).

The standard of review in determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence is also well settled. "[T]his Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial." Collins State. 757 So.2d 335, 337(¶ (Miss.Ct.App.2000) (quoting Dudley v. State, 719 So.2d 180, 182(¶ 9) (Miss.1998)). On review, the State is given "the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." Collins, 757 So.2d at 337(¶ 5) (citing Griffin v. State, 607 So.2d 1197, 1201 (Miss.1992)). "Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on appeal." Collins, 757 So.2d at 337(¶ 5) (quoting Dudley, 719 So.2d at 182).

Carle v. State, 864 So.2d 993, 998 (Miss.App.2004).

Moreover, "[t]his Court does not have the task of re-weighing the facts in each case to, in effect, go behind the jury to detect whether the testimony and evidence they chose to believe was or was not the most credible." *Langston v. State*, 791 So.2d 273, 280 (¶ 14) (Miss.Ct.App.2001).

Furthermore,

The jury is charged with the responsibility of weighing and considering conflicting evidence, evaluating the credibility of witnesses, and determining whose testimony should be believed. [citation omitted] The jury has the duty to determine the impeachment value of inconsistencies or contradictions as well as testimonial defects of perception, memory, and sincerity. *Noe v. State*, 616 So.2d 298, 302 (Miss.1993) (citations omitted). "It is not for this Court to pass upon the credibility of witnesses and where evidence justifies the verdict it must be accepted as having been found worthy of belief." *Williams v. State*, 427 So.2d 100, 104 (Miss.1983).

(emphasis added) Ford v. State, 737 So.2d 424, 425 (Miss.App.1999).

It has been "held in numerous cases that the jury is the sole judge of the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be attached to their testimony." *Kohlberg v. State*, 704 So.2d 1307, 1311 (Miss.1997). As the Mississippi Supreme Court reitereated in *Hales v. State*, 933 So.2d 962, 968 (Miss.2006), criminal cases will not be reversed "where there is a straight issue of fact, or a conflict in the facts..." [citations omitted] Rather, "juries are impaneled for the very purpose of passing upon such questions of disputed fact, and [the Court does] not intend to invade the province and prerogative of the jury. "[citations omitted] Finally, in this case "[t]here was not a great deal of evidence for the fact finder to weigh since the defendant did

not testify." White v. State, 722 So.2d 1242, 1247 (Miss.1998). The defendant's failure to do so left the jury free to give "full effect" to the testimony of the state's witnesses. Id.

We incorporate by reference the proof set out in our Statement of Substantive Facts to support our position that the court did not err in submitting this case to the jury and refusing to disturb its verdict. As the prosecutor argued in closing, the defendant had abused and threatened Ms. Willis during their long-term relationship. He specifically threatened to kill her if he caught her seeing a truck driver. The evening before these murders, he called her six times between 5:30 and 6:30. (T.394-95) Regarding the sequence of key events, the assistant district attorney argued as follows:

We know that the shooting occurred at around 6:52 that morning. We know that at 5:30 that morning when Shundrica Harris left Buck Island Trailer Park her patrol video shows those two trucks were parked side by side where Andy had left it the night before. We know that Laura was supposed to be at work that morning at Gold Strike at 7:00, that she was most likely dropping Andy off. That at 6:52 the records from the trucking compnay indicate that his truck was cranked. We know from the cell phone records that Terry Madden's cell phone registered with the cell phone tower right on Hambrick Road at 6:52. We know that the distance from that tower to the crime scene was just at four miles, that that was within the radius that Mark Winstead testified to she had to be in to hit that tower.

(T.395)

The fact that the victims' personal effects remained on the scene demonstrated that "this was not some random robbery or shooting ... " The state also proved that the defendant had purchased a .40 caliber handgun. (T.395-97)

The state submits the proof created a straight issue of fact for the jury. No basis exists for disturbing the jury's determination that Terry Madden murdered Laura Willis and Andy McCorkle.¹ Madden's first proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION TWO:

MADDEN MAY NOT BE HEARD TO RAISE A HEARSAY-GROUNDED OBJECTION TO CERTAIN TESTIMONY FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL

For the first time on appeal, Madden asserts that evidence of prior bad acts constituted inadmissible hearsay. At trial, he objected on the ground of relevance. The objections were overruled at the time. (7.230-31, 240) Thereafter, outside the presence of the jury, the court made these findings and conclusions:

Let the record show that we have taken our lunch break, that the jury, as well as the spectators have been excused. During the course of this morning's events, a witness—I believe a Mr. Bailey and a Mr. Tribble, Pat Tribble, and a witness were called by the State as concerns prior incidents, acts of violence between this defendant and the victim. An objection was made to this evidence by the Defense. Because the objection was made contemporaneous with the officer of evidence during trial, the Court did not state on the record its reasoning behind the admission of such evidence.

¹The jury was instructed that in order to obtain convictions, the state was required to prove Madden guilty beyond a reasonable doubt and to the exclusion of every reasonable hypothesis consistent with innocence. (C.P.141-42)

The Court will at this time state, for purposes of the record, that in considering the evidence, it viewed the evidence under both Rule 403 and Rule 404(b). The Court did find the evidence to be relevant. However, it also found the evidence to be prejudicial to the defendant. However, finding that the evidence was offered— intended to present matters both as to impeachment as concerns the prior statement of the defendant and as to motive, intent, knowledge, preparation, under Rule 404(b) the Court considered the evidence to be— the probative value of the evidence to outweigh the prejudicial effect, particularly in light of the prior threats which the testimony suggested had occurred between the defendant and the victim.

(T.275)

The defense requested no further action on the part of the trial court. Again, the state submits the sole issue presented to the court was the relevance of the evidence in question. In response to those objections, the court made well-reasoned findings and conclusions. Madden may not be heard to raise a hearsay-based objection for the first time here. "It is elementary that different grounds than the objections presented to the trial court cannot be presented for the first time on appeal." *Thornhill v. State*, 561 So.2d 1025, 1029 (Miss.1989), cited in *White v. State*, 809 So.2d 776, 779 (Miss.App.2002). It follows that Madden is procedurally barred from raising this claim on appeal.

No error has been shown in the court's ruling on the issue presented to it.

Madden's third proposition should be rejected.

PROPOSITION THREE:

MADDEN'S INVOCATION OF THE CUMULATIVE ERROR DOCTRINE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND SUBSTANTIVELY MERITLESS

Madden finally contends that the cumulative errors of the trial court mandate reversal of the judgment rendered against him. He did not present this argument at any time in the trial court and may not raise it for the first time on appeal. *Maldonado v. State*, 796 So.2d 247, 260-61 (Miss.2001); *Gibson v. State*, 731 So.2d 1087, 1098 (Miss.1998). His fourth proposition is procedurally barred.

In the alternative, the state incorporates its arguments under Propositions One and Two in asserting that the lack of merit in Madden's other arguments demonstrates the futility of his final proposition. *Gibson*, 731 So.2d at 1098; *Doss v.* State, 709 So.2d 369, 400 (Miss.1997); *Chase v. State*, 645 So.2d 829, 861 (Miss.1994). See also *Brown v. State*, 682 So.2d 340, 356 (Miss.1996) ("twenty times zero equals zero"). Madden's invocation of the cumulative error doctrine lacks substantive merit as well.

CONCLUSION

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